FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/2/2020 1:28 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/3/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. <u>99278-9</u>	
--------------------	--

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 80162-7-I)

PUGET SOUND ENERGY, INC.,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

PILCHUCK CONTRACTORS, INC.,

Defendant/Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

GORDON TILDEN THOMAS & CORDELL LLP

Jeffrey M. Thomas, WSBA #21175 Mark Wilner, WSBA #31550 John D. Cadagan, WSBA #47996 600 University Street, Suite 2915 Seattle, WA 98101 Tel. 206.467.6477

Attorneys for Appellant Puget Sound Energy, Inc.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Puget Sound Energy, Inc. ("PSE") is the petitioner.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

PSE respectfully seeks review of the Court of Appeal's opinion, Puget Sound Energy, Inc. v. Pilchuck Contractors, Inc., No. 80162-7-I http://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/801627.pdf, (unpublished), 2020 WL 6395578. A copy of the slip opinion is attached as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is a contractor barred from claiming the construction statute of repose applies as a matter of law where: (a) the scope of the relevant "improvement upon real property" is a disputed fact; and (b) the contractor fails to substantially complete any essential work on a specific parcel of real property despite doing different work, at other addresses, at other times?
- 2. Should Washington law permit a fraud or equitable estoppel exception to the construction statute of repose in order to preserve adequate rights for injured parties?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. OVERVIEW

Pilchuck Contractors, Inc. ("Pilchuck") falsely certified to PSE that Pilchuck deactivated a specific natural gas service line at 8409 Greenwood Avenue North in Seattle. Pilchuck did not deactivate the gas line. It did not

perform **any** of the work required to deactivate the gas line. Years later, the service line leaked and the natural gas ignited, causing an explosion.

PSE sued Pilchuck for recovery of the damages PSE has had to pay on account of Pilchuck failing to deactivate PSE's gas line. Pilchuck sought summary judgment to avoid liability under the construction statute of repose. The superior court granted Pilchuck's motion.

The Court of Appeals determined the scope of "work" or "improvement" is immaterial to whether the statute applies. Nonetheless, to affirm, the Court of Appeals applied the factually disputed scope-of-work definition proffered by Pilchuck. The Court of Appeals also denied a fraud exception to the statute of repose by equating "latent defects" with "fraud" and stating the "plain language of the statute evidences the legislature's intent" not to except "latent defects" from the statute of repose.

B. RELEVANT FACTS

1. PSE Hired Pilchuck to Perform Utility Services on an Ongoing Basis Under a Master Services Agreement with Individual Services Defined by a Work-Number System.

PSE and Pilchuck entered into a Master Services Agreement ("MSA") in January 2001, whereby Pilchuck agreed to perform to-bedefined utility construction, operations, and maintenance services for PSE

-

¹ Clerk's Papers ("CP") 281-326.

over several years. The MSA itself did not identify the actual work required; rather, the MSA contemplated work "as may be specified" and "from time to time." To keep track of the work subsequently specified, the parties used a work-number system.

The specific services Pilchuck was to perform were identified by "specific work notifications." The specific work notification number relevant here was "10552392." It identified the specific service address and subject gas service line that was supposed to be deactivated. "Specific work notifications" were grouped into broader "sub orders"; the "sub order number" here was "1080521011" and described work Pilchuck was to perform on various gas lines. "Sub orders" were grouped into still broader "superior work orders," which defined the type of utility (i.e., gas or electric) upon which work was to be done and the general area in which the work was to be done. This "superior work order number"... is assigned more for accounting purposes. It does not detail the work to be performed like the work notifications." The "superior work order number" here was

² E.g., CP 281.

³ CP 266 n.1, 353 (D-4 Card with "specific work notification," "sub order" numbers).

⁴ CP 353, 461-62.

⁵ CP 266 n.1.

⁶ CP 353, 266 n.1.

⁷ CP 461.

"109017644" and referred to all the different types of gas utility work (deactivation, installation, relocation, etc.) to be done across various addresses throughout the Greenwood neighborhood in 2004.8

2. Pilchuck Did No Work on the Subject Gas Service Line.

To deactivate the subject gas service line, Pilchuck was required to perform specified work. Specifically, Pilchuck was required to:

- (1) disconnect the service line from all sources and supplies of gas;
- (2) shut off the valve(s) on the service line that connect from the main gas line;
- (3) purge the service line;
- (4) seal the service line at each end with expansive foam; and
- (5) cut-and-cap the service line.⁹

Pilchuck then needed to physically remove the above-ground portion of the deactivated service line to complete the deactivation. ¹⁰ Pilchuck did not perform **any** of the work required to deactivate the subject gas service line. ¹¹

3. Pilchuck Certified it Deactivated the Subject Gas Line.

When work is performed on each natural gas line, the work must be documented on a Gas Service Card. ¹² This documentation is referred to as

⁸ CP 266 n.1, 461-62.

⁹ CP 265-66, 328, 331.

¹⁰ CP 265-66.

 $^{^{11}}$ *E.g.*, CP 266, 356-57 (¶¶ 5-6), 379 (33:9-12), 381 (35:14-22), 389-91 (79:1-19), 395-96 (¶ 9 WUTC Settlement Agreement).

¹² CP 267 (¶8), 385 (45:4-22), 387 (47:3-22). See also 49 C.F.R. § 192.13(c); id. §§ 192.603 & § .605; id. § 192.727; id. § 192.614; see also WAC 480-93-018(1); WAC 480-93-018(4).

a "D-4 Card," and PSE required such documentation under the MSA. ¹³ PSE used the information certified in the D-4 Cards to update its natural gas maps—essential for PSE to provide the public with accurate information on where it is safe to dig, and essential for PSE to conduct inspections, leak surveys, and corrosion tests of active gas lines to keep the public safe. 14

Pilchuck admitted the D-4 Card it certified for "8409 GREENWOOD AVE N SEATTLE" under "specific work notification" number "10552392" was false. 15 Pilchuck certified deactivation of the 8409 Greenwood gas service line even though Pilchuck had not deactivated the line. Notably, the falsified D-4 Card did not mention "superior work order number" "109017644," the number Pilchuck claimed defined the scope of work relevant for statute-of-repose purposes. 16

There is no dispute PSE's reliance on Pilchuck's certification was reasonable. 17 Pilchuck also does not dispute on summary judgment that it acted with intent to defraud PSE and falsely represented that it deactivated the subject service gas service line to induce PSE to pay for work not done. 18

¹⁷ CP 3, 267-70, 385-86 (45:19-46:14).

¹³ CP 267, 286, 291, 322, 340-51, 387 (47:3-22).

¹⁴ CP 268.

¹⁵ CP 390-91 (69:5-14, 79:1-19).

¹⁶ CP 353.

¹⁸ CP 411-17 (Pilchuck's Reply in Support of Summary Judgment).

Finally, it is undisputed on summary judgment that Pilchuck's false certification was a but-for cause of the explosion. 19

C. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

PSE sued Pilchuck in March 2018.²⁰ Pilchuck moved for summary judgment, arguing its fraud should be excused under the statute of repose. The superior court granted Pilchuck's motion and adopted Pilchuck's scope-of-work definition as "the totality of Pilchuck's work described in the MSA and in [Superior] Work Order 109017644."²¹ The superior court also determined a "fraudulent-concealment" or "equitable-estoppel" exception "[wa]s more appropriately saved for an appellate court."²²

On appeal, Division One stated the scope-of-work issue was irrelevant, while at the same time accepting Pilchuck's scope-of-work definition as "[t]he broader project."²³ The court also declined to recognize a fraud or equitable estoppel exception and instead concluded the discovery rule does not apply to latent defects under the statute's plain language.²⁴

¹⁹ CP 2, 267, 353, 390 (69:2-8), 394-406 (WUTC Settlement Agreement)

²⁰ CP 1-7.

²¹ CP 496-97.

²² CP 498.

²³ Slip Op. at *8, *11-12. Division One also cited a permit PSE obtained to validate its decision to adopt Pilchuck's "broader project" definition as the relevant scope of the "improvement." *Id.* at *2. But the permit discusses a different "superior work order," namely "109017658," not "109017644." CP 429.

²⁴ Slip Op. at 12-14.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court should accept review because the decision "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."²⁵ This is a case of first impression. No prior case has decided how the statute of repose applies when a contractor agrees to perform discrete improvements at different addresses but only performs some of the improvements at some of the addresses. The Court of Appeals here held a contractor that performed different work at other addresses and failed to do any work at the subject address is protected by the statute of repose. This Court should accept review to decide how lower courts can determine the scope of an "improvement upon real property" where a contractor performs different work at different locations at different times.

Also of substantial public interest is whether Washington recognizes an exception to the statute of repose where evidence of fraud exists.²⁶ The effect of fraud on Washington's statute of repose has been repeatedly identified as an unsettled question.²⁷ The Court should accept review to

²⁵ RAP 13.4(b)(4).

²⁶ RAP 13.4(b)(4).

²⁷ See 1519-1525 Lakeview Blvd. Condo. Ass'n v. Apartment Sales Corp., 101 Wn. App. 923, 932, 6 P.3d 74 (2000), aff'd, 144 Wn.2d 570, 29 P.3d 1249 (2001) ("Whether fraudulent concealment has the effect of tolling the statute is an unsettled question."); 16 Wash. Prac., Tort Law & Prac. § 10:12 (4th ed.) ("whether fraudulent concealment might toll the statute has not been decided by Washington courts"); 15A Wash. Prac.,

decide whether Washington will join many of its sister-states and formally recognize the existence of a fraud exception to the statute of repose.

A. THE COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW TO DETERMINE HOW THE STATUTE OF REPOSE APPLIES WHEN PARTIES CONTRACT FOR DIFFERENT IMPROVEMENTS UPON REAL PROPERTY AT DIFFERENT LOCATIONS AT DIFFERENT TIMES.

The issue here presents questions of broad application affecting the individual handyman, corporate contractors like Pilchuck, and property owners throughout the state. For example: How should a court assess what constitutes "an improvement upon real property" when a contractor agrees to perform multiple jobs at different addresses on a rolling basis; What is the rule where there are different types of work performed (or not performed) by the same contractor at different addresses at different times?

1. No Case Addresses How to Define the Statute's Scope Where the Contractor Is to Perform Different Improvements at Different Real Property Addresses.

The principle issue is how to define the statute's "scope." Several cases state whether a particular type of work qualifies as an "improvement upon real property," but no Washington authority addresses **how** the scope of an "improvement upon real property," or "work," should be determined:

Handbook Civil Proc. § 4.12 (2018-2019 ed.) ("It is undecided whether fraudulent concealment tolls a statute of repose.").

²⁸ Pfeifer v. City of Bellingham, 112 Wn.2d 562, 567, 772 P.2d 1018 (1989) ("First, the court must determine the statute's scope, whether it applies at all.").

- Yakima Fruit & Cold Storage Co. v. Central Heating & Plumbing Co., 29 considered whether a refrigeration system, within a single building, was an improvement to real property covered by the statute of repose or a removable fixture not covered. The scope of work was not at issue, "Yakima Fruit and respondent entered into a written contract whereby respondent was to construct and install a refrigeration system and equipment." Yakima Fruit did not consider the scenario where, as here, the scope of relevant work at different addresses (and whether it was substantially completed) is disputed.
- In *Pinneo v. Stevens Pass, Inc.*, ³⁰ Stevens Pass entered into a contract with Riblet Tramway to design and furnish a single chair lift in a single location. The issue was whether the chair lift was an improvement upon real property or a fixture. **The scope of Riblet's work, and its substantial completion, was not disputed**.
- In Wash. Nat. Gas Co. v. Tyee Constr. Co., 31 Puget Sound Power & Light contracted with Tyee to convert overhead power lines to underground lines at one location. The scope of work, and its completion, was not disputed. The issue was whether the work, which was performed, was an "improvement" to real property.
- New Meadows Holding Co. v. Washington Water Power Co. 32 held the statute of repose begins to run upon substantial completion "of a project." But, again, the "project"—its scope and terms—was not at issue. The issue was whether the statute applied to claims of damage to real property adjacent to an improvement.
- In *Dania*, *Inc.* v. *Skanska USA Bldg*. *Inc.*, ³³ Dania entered into a construction contract with a builder to build a warehouse at a single address. There was no dispute there was a single contract for building the warehouse, and the plaintiff conceded the construction of the entire warehouse at that address was the

²⁹ 81 Wn.2d 528, 529, 503 P.2d 108 (1972).

^{30 14} Wn. App. 848, 545 P.2d 1207 (1976).

³¹ 26 Wn. App. 235, 611 P.2d 1378 (1980).

³² 102 Wn.2d 495, 687 P.2d 212 (1984).

³³ 185 Wn. App. 359, 371, 340 P.3d 984 (2014).

relevant "improvement." The statute of repose issue was whether the warehouse (the improvement) was "substantially complete" when the warehouse was put to full use, or whether the later date of termination of services applied. The court held substantial completion was a fact issue, and substantial completion occurs when the entire improvement may be used for its intended purpose.

- 1519-1525 Lakeview Blvd. Condo Ass'n v. Apt. Sales Corp., ³⁴ is another example of an owner contracting for work as specified in the contract where the scope of required work under the contract was not in dispute. Whether the "work" was "substantially complete" likewise never was a disputed issue. The issue was whether one looks to termination of services or occupancy readiness to determine the statute's starting point.
- In New Grade Int'l v. Scott Techs., 35 a defendant sprinkler system company had a contract to design and install a sprinkler system in a single building. The system failed. There was no issue on the scope of work (designing and installing the sprinkler system in the one building) or whether the defendant's work was "substantially complete." The issue was whether the statute of repose was meant to benefit the defendant company, which was a manufacturer.
- In *Smith v. Showalter*, ³⁶ the defendant built one home at one address, with construction spanning from 1975-1981. In 1977, the builder built a room with substandard wiring. In 1981, and the builder sold the home. The issue was whether 1977 or 1981 controlled for statute of repose purposes. The court held 1981 was the year of substantial completion as "improvement" means the "entire improvement" not a sub-component. The court did not consider how to determine the scope of the "entire improvement."

Here, there is no dispute deactivating a gas service line (had it been done) would be an "improvement" under the statute of repose. It is also

³⁴ 101 Wn. App. 923, 6 P.3d 74 (2000), aff'd 144 Wn.2d 570, 29 P.3d 1249 (2001).

³⁵ 2004 WL 5571416 (W.D. Wash. Nov. 30, 2004) (unpublished).

³⁶ 47 Wn. App. 245, 734 P.2d 928 (1987).

undisputed Pilchuck did not perform any portion of the deactivation work.³⁷ The issue this Court should decide on review is **how** to evaluate on summary judgment whether the scope of the "improvement" is the deactivation of the gas line at 8409 Greenwood Ave. N. only (per specific work notification 10552392) or all gas-related work done at various addresses throughout the 8400 block of Greenwood Ave. N. (per superior work order 109017644).

2. The Court of Appeals Concluded the Parties' Disagreement on Scope Was Irrelevant but Then Adopted and Applied Pilchuck's Definition Nonetheless.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged the parties had a factual disagreement on the scope of the "improvement," but concluded the scope did not matter.³⁸ Instead, the Court of Appeals determined the statute was intended to broadly protect contractors, so "[t]he fact that the work was not done as represented may give rise to a claim but does not remove the situation from the purview of the statute of repose."³⁹

This cannot be the correct analysis. If scope were irrelevant, the language of the statute would not limit its protection only to those contractors "having constructed, altered or repaired any improvement

³⁷ CP 265-66, 328, 331; App. Br. at 20-22.

³⁸ Slip Op. at *8.

³⁹ *Id*.

upon real property."⁴⁰ And, if scope were irrelevant, the statute would not be limited only "to benefit persons **having performed work** for which the persons must be registered or licensed."⁴¹ Understanding the scope of the improvement, or work, also must be relevant because if there is no improvement, or the work was not performed, then there is nothing for the statute of repose to protect (other than liability from fraud).

Yet, despite acknowledging the factual dispute about the relevant scope of work, the Court of Appeals nonetheless adopted Pilchuck's definition to reach its conclusion. The Court of Appeals began its recitation of facts by agreeing with Pilchuck's factually disputed claim that, "In 2004, PSE contracted with Pilchuck to perform work on the 8400 block of Greenwood Avenue North in Seattle." The Court of Appeals then only considered "[t]he broader project" when addressing the "substantial completion" question. Adopting as fact that "the 8400 block of Greenwood Avenue North" and "[t]he broader project" was the relevant scope of "work" or "improvement" for purposes of analyzing the statute of

_

⁴⁰ RCW 4.16.300 (emphasis added).

⁴¹*Id.*; *Pfeifer*, 112 Wn.2d at 567 ("First, the court must determine the statute's scope").

⁴² Slip Op. at *2 *accord* Resp. Br. at 2 ("There is no dispute that PSE contracted with Pilchuck in 2004 to perform a construction project."), *id.* at 4 ("In 2004, and pursuant to the MSA, . . ."). *Cf.* Reply Br. at 6-13.

⁴³ Slip Op. at *11-12.

repose enabled the Court of Appeals to avoid dealing with the elephant in the room—where and how does one draw the line in a case involving **different** improvements at **different** addresses? It also upended the summary judgment standard, as these "facts" were clearly in dispute.⁴⁴

3. The Statute Should Define the Scope.

The statute's language shows scope of the "improvement" should be a singular enhancement to the value of real property. This supports PSE's view that the relevant scope of "improvement" should be analyzed on a real-property-parcel/address basis, as was defined by "specific work notification 10552392." *First*, the statute of repose only applies to benefit a contractor who constructs, alters, or repairs "any improvement [singular]." The limitations period does not begin until "substantial completion" of "an improvement [again singular] upon real property." Meaning, if Pilchuck performed multiple improvements at multiple addresses, there must be multiple improvements. And, conversely, if Pilchuck did not perform an improvement at an address, as here, such cannot constitute an improvement under the statute.

⁴⁴ Porter v. Kirkendoll, 194 Wn.2d 194, 200, 449 P.3d 627 (2019).

⁴⁵ RCW 4.16.300 ("any") (emphasis added); RCW 4.16.310 ("an" "the").

⁴⁶ RCW 4.16.310 (emphasis added).

Further, the singular use of "improvement" and "work" does not support inferring that work on **other** improvements at **other** locations should factor into whether one "substantially completes" "an improvement." Yet that is what the Court of Appeals concluded when it decided the "project as a whole was substantially complete because PSE began serving its customers using the new gas lines and PSE treated the subject gas line as abandoned."⁴⁷ Contrary to the Court of Appeals' determination of fact, the new gas service line was located on a different street and was not the same gas service line Pilchuck claimed it deactivated.

Second, an "improvement" is defined as something that "adds to the value of the property," is an "amelioration of its condition," and "enhances its use." Here, Pilchuck failed to perform any of the work necessary to deactivate the active gas service line and falsely stated it had deactivated the line. There is at least a question whether: (1) Pilchuck added to the value of the property on which the gas line was located (or detracted from it), (2) Pilchuck's failure to deactivate the gas line ameliorated the property's condition (or left the condition as is or made it worse), and (3) Pilchuck's failure to deactivate the gas line enhanced the use of the property (or made the property less safe).

-

⁴⁷ Slip Op. at *11.

⁴⁸ Wash. Natural Gas Co., 26 Wn. App. at 238-39.

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