FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/6/2021 9:46 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99278-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, NO. 80162-7

PUGET SOUND ENERGY, INC.,

Appellant,

VS.

PILCHUCK CONTRACTORS, INC.,

Respondent

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Contractors, INC.

Ted Buck, WSBA #22029 Mark Conrad, WSBA #48135 FREY BUCK, P.S. 1200 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1900 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: (206) 486-8000 Facsimile: (206) 902-9660 Attorneys for Respondent Pilchuck

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

III. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

A. The Standard of Review of the Trial Court's Order

The standard of review is *de novo*. Summary judgment is appropriate if the evidence, when viewed in the light most favorable to the

¹⁷ Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998).

nonmoving party, shows that no genuine issue of material fact remains, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. 18

The interpretation of a statute is a matter of law reviewed *de novo*. ¹⁹ The purpose of interpreting a statute is to ascertain and carry out the intent of the legislature.²⁰ If the plain meaning of the statute is clear on its face, the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of the legislature's intent.²¹ Courts should avoid adding to or taking away from the language of a statute.²²

- В. The SOR bars all of PSE's claims because Pilchuck substantially completed construction activities on improvements on real property more than eleven years before PSE's claims accrued.
 - 1. Both the trial court and Court of Appeals properly found that PSE's claims fall within the scope of the SOR because Pilchuck was hired to construct, alter, or repair improvements on real property.

PSE's Petition takes an imaginative and ambiguous path to argue that this Court should grant review because Pilchuck's acts were not within the scope of the SOR. However, PSE's petition is not premised upon the argument that the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with any other

¹⁸ Life Designs Ranch, Inc. v. Sommer, 191 Wn. App. 320, 327, 364 P.3d 129 (2015). See also CR

¹⁹ Porter v. Kirkendoll, 194 Wn.2d 194, 200, 449 P.3d 627 (2019); Smith v. Showalter, 47 Wn. App. 245, 248, 734 P.2d 928 (1987)

²⁰ Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver USA, 188 Wn.2d 421, 435, 395 P.3d 1031 (2017).

²² Porter, 194 Wn.2d at 211–12.

decision by a Washington court; but instead petitions for review solely pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4). Contrary to PSE's position, this is not a case of first impression, and PSE's arguments ignore the undisputed facts and misconstrues the Court of Appeals' sound decision which rests on existing jurisprudence.

As a preliminary matter, PSE wrongly contends that the Court of Appeals recognized a factual dispute existed but found it to be "irrelevant." Rather, the panel noted that PSE *claimed* there was a factual dispute, but that Pilchuck noted the alleged dispute was in reality an argument on the proper application of the SOR to the undisputed facts. ²³ The appellate panel then applied the undisputed facts (and inferences that Pilchuck acknowledged for purposes of summary judgment) to the SOR, finding that such application mandated dismissal under the SOR. ²⁴ Specifically, the appellate panel found that if Pilchuck's interpretation was correct – that the "improvement" was the 8400 Greenwood project, the SOR applied. Alternatively, the panel also found that if PSE's interpretation was correct – that the only "improvement" to consider was the specific service line at issue – the SOR still applied. ²⁵

The panel's approach was correct. Washington's construction SOR

²³ See PSE's Petition for Review, Appendix A, pg. 6.

²⁴ Id., 6-9

²⁵ See PSE's Petition for Review, Appendix A, pg. 8.

is set out in two parts:

RCW 4.16.300 defines the scope of the statute and describes those entitled to claim its protection. RCW 4.16.310 defines when this statute of repose bars a claim. Together, they bar certain claims arising from construction of any improvement on real property that have not accrued within six years after substantial completion of construction.²⁶

The first step of any SOR analysis is determining whether the claims at issue fall within the scope of the statute.²⁷ As provided in RCW 4.16.300, the scope of claims barred by the SOR includes "all claims or causes of action of any kind against any person, arising from such person having constructed, altered, or repaired any improvement upon real property."²⁸ The statute specifically notes that it is intended to "benefit persons performing work for which the person must be registered or licensed" to perform the work.²⁹

PSE contends that because the particular gas line that caused the explosion was not properly retired, Pilchuck's construction activity does not constitute work as an "improvement upon real property." After reviewing the language of the statute and existing caselaw, the Court of Appeals rejected PSE's argument and correctly determined that Washington courts have long held that construction work on utilities falls under the purview of

²⁶ Cameron v. Atl. Richfield Co., 8 Wn. App. 2d 795, 800, 442 P.3d 31 (2019).

²⁷ Pfeifer v. City of Bellingham, 112 Wn.2d 562, 567, 772 P.2d 1018 (1989)

²⁸ See Appendix A for full text of RCW 4.16.300 (emphasis added).

²⁹ I.d

the SOR.³⁰ Indeed, PSE admits that deactivation activity on utility lines falls within the purview of "improvement" under the SOR.³¹ PSE could hardly have argued otherwise.

In Washington National Gas Co. v. Tyee Construction Co., Tyee was hired to install underground power lines at 10 locations in a residential subdivision, which Tyee completed in 1968.³² In 1977, the gas company discovered that Tyee had failed to install a protective barrier between the powerlines and its gas lines, leading to corrosion and potential leaks.³³ The court held the SOR barred the gas company's claims because installation of a system of power lines throughout a residential subdivision was "an improvement upon real property even though potentially subject to removal under some circumstances."³⁴

Here, both the trial court and the Court of Appeals properly held that *Tyee* controls; gas service lines, just like power lines, are an improvement on real property.³⁵ Pilchuck contracted to perform construction work on these existing improvements, that is, to "alter" an improvement. The fact that the work was not done as represented may give rise to a claim but does not remove the situation from the purview of the SOR.

³⁰ See PSE's Petition for Review, Appendix A, pg. 7

³¹ PSE's Petition for Review, p. 10.

³² Wash. Natural Gas Co., v. Tyee Constr. Co., 26 Wn.App. 235, 238-240, 611 P.2d 1378 (1980)

³³ *Id*.

³⁴ *Id*.

³⁵ See PSE's Petition for Review, Appendix A, pg. 7

PSE's tortured argument that the individual line should be the sole focus of the court's analysis is factually unsupported and, as the Court of Appeals described, leads to the same conclusion. First, PSE's position ignores the undisputed facts that the deactivation was subsumed within the 8400 Greenwood project, was performed under the same city permit and was admittedly catalogued under the project's superior work order number. Deactivation did not and could not exist in a vacuum. PSE's admitted purpose was to supply its customers with gas via new service lines. Abandoning the old lines would not have occurred had the new lines not been installed as part of Pilchuck's work. Asserting this specific line deactivation existed as an unrelated activity to the rest of the project creates a factual absurdity.³⁶

Second, the panel recognized that even if one were to accept this illogical interpretation, the SOR still applies. PSE admits deactivation of a gas utility line is an "improvement" and admits that Pilchuck was hired to undertake that work. Pilchuck's failure to deactivate is squarely within the statute's scope – *any* claim *arising from* construction, alteration, or repair of an improvement – and a claim of *failing to properly alter* is inherent to

.

³⁶ To the extent that PSE's argument here pertains to "parcels," that argument is not properly before this Court. At no point in the prior proceedings did PSE raise this "parcel" argument, and there is no evidence in the record that the 8400 Greenwood project concerned different parcels. PSE cites no such instance in the record.

any such claim. Otherwise, any failure to complete a project fully or correctly would fall outside the SOR, which the panel recognized would gut the obvious legislative intent behind the SOR's broad protections. Washington courts have routinely and consistently rejected the idea that a failure to complete a job properly falls outside the SOR.

Furthermore, the appellate panel also appropriately found that the SOR evidences a legislative intent to apply broadly to protect contractors such as Pilchuck.³⁷ The language of the statue is sweeping and, as established in *Pinneo v. Stevens Pass, Inc.*, is intended to protect from extended potential tort and contractual liability.³⁸

PSE's contention that this case presents an issue of first impression and review should be granted to determine the scope of the SOR is without merit. The Court of Appeals correctly relied on existing jurisprudence and determined that Pilchuck's work falls within the type of activity the statute was intended to cover.

2. Both the trial court and the Court of Appeal's determined that substantial completion occurred in 2004 when Pilchuck stop work on the project, PSE's customers were receiving service through new gas lines install by Pilchuck as intended, and the old service lines were no longer being used, also as intended.

The second step of the SOR analysis is to determine whether the

.

³⁷ PSE's Petition for Review, Appendix A, pg. 8.

³⁸ Pinneo v. Stevens Pass, Inc., 14 Wn. App. 848, 852, 545 P.2d 1207 (1976)

cause of action accrued within the period allowed by the statute. Per RCW 4.16.310, if a cause of action accrued more than six years after substantial completion or termination of services the claim is barred by the SOR.³⁹ Because termination of services here plainly occurred in 2004, the only question is what "substantial completion" means: "The phrase 'substantial completion of construction' shall mean the state of completion reached when an improvement upon real property may be used or occupied for its intended use."⁴⁰ Here, it is undisputed that Pilchuck stopped work in 2004, PSE paid them in full in 2004, the customers used gas via the new lines as intended in 2004, and the line in question was no longer used.

"Substantial" modifies "completion" – the result unmistakably means something less than total completion. The fact that additional contract work remains, including punch list work, does not affect the conclusion that a project is substantially complete if it is otherwise fit for occupancy. In *Dania*, the court found that construction of a warehouse was substantially complete despite the fact that an entire layer of the roof was missing. Per *Dania*, a property can be occupied for its intended use notwithstanding that the project remains incomplete.

-

³⁹ See Appendix A for full text of RCW 4.16.310.

⁴⁰ RCW 4.16.310

⁴¹ Mattingly v. Palmer Ridge Homes, LLC, 157 Wn. App. 376, 394, 238 P.3d 505 (2010)

⁴² Dania, Inc. v. Skanska USA Bldg. Inc., 185 Wn. App. 359, 371, 340 P.3d 984 (2014).

⁴³ Id

The statutory bright line rule is consistent with the purposes of the SOR to guarantee that construction professionals have predictability and avoid the uncertainty of the long tail of liability.⁴⁴ Here, both the trial court and the Court of Appeal were correct in finding substantial completion.

PSE also complains that the Court of Appeals erred in describing the intended use of the individual line to be disuse. PSE argues its intended use was "deactivation." Here again, however, PSE is wrong both on the undisputed facts and in logic. It remains undisputed that the intent was to start supplying customers via new lines and stop supply via old lines, a result that undeniably occurred. "Deactivation" is not a use, but rather a means of attaining the desired use – namely disuse.

Finally, PSE again conjures the California case *Hensel Philips Construction Co. v. Superior Ct. of San Diego Co.* in an oblique effort to suggest "substantial completion" is a factual question to be determined by a jury. As the Court of Appeals recognized, however, neither PSE nor Pilchuck is asserting that some standard for "substantial completion" other than the statutory definition applies. Here it is undisputed the new service lines replaced the old, including at this particular address. That this particular line was abandoned incorrectly is irrelevant to the question.

_

⁴⁴ Davis v. Baugh Indus. Contractors, 159 Wn.2d 413, 419, 150 P.3d 545 (2007).

PSE's claims accrued more than ten years after substantial completion and termination of services; its claims are barred by the SOR.

3. Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals determined they could not constitutionally ignore a clear mandate from the legislature by creating a judicial exception to the SOR for alleged fraud. The language of the statute is broad and sweeping encompassing "all claims or causes of action of any kind."

When reading a statute, a court "will not construe language that is clear and unambiguous, but will instead give effect to the plain language without regard to rules of statutory construction." The plain language of the SOR demonstrates that claims related to fraud are within its broad scope, as RCW 4.16.300 expressly provides that it "... shall apply to *all claims or causes of action of any kind*." The statute literally includes every conceivable cause of action, including fraud.

Washington courts have consistently interpreted the language of the SOR broadly. In *Parkridge*, the court examined whether the legislature intended to include claims of equitable indemnity (a claim akin to fraud) within the broad sweep of RCW 4.16.300.⁴⁶ The court determined that analysis of the legislative history and intent was inappropriate given the clear and unambiguous language of the statute:

RCW 4.16.300 states that RCW 4.16.300-.320 "shall apply to all claims or causes of action of any kind against any

_

⁴⁵ Parkridge Assocs. V. Ledcor Indus., 113 Wn. App. 592, 602, 54 P. 3d. 225 (2002).

⁴⁶ Parkridge Assocs., 113 Wn. App. at 602.

person, arising from such person having constructed, altered or repaired any improvement upon real property." The legislature's choice of the words "all claims or causes of actions of *any kind*... arising from... construction" is broad and sweeping. The dictionary defines the adjective "all" as meaning, variously, "being or representing the entire or total number, amount, or quantity," "constituting, being, or representing the total extent or the whole," "being the utmost possible of," "every," "any whatsoever," and other, similarly comprehensive terms. We do not read the word "all" or the phrase "of any kind" to imply an exception for equitable indemnity claims...To read the statute to impliedly exclude equitable indemnity claims is an absurd view of the statute.⁴⁷

PSE now invites this Court to adopt the very "absurd view" of this statute that the *Parkridge* court rejected.

Washington precedent, however, uniformly aligns with the *Parkridge* reasoning. Indeed, the SOR applies even in the case of illegal activity. In *Yakima Fruit*, this Court specifically found that even if a contractor committed an unlawful act by performing work for which it was not licensed, the broad language providing protection for "[a]ny person" allowing the contractor to "fit into the statute regardless of its allegedly having furnished design services in violation of another statute."⁴⁸

Moreover, the appellate panel was correct in rejecting PSE's claim that a fraud exception would not subvert the SOR's underlying policy. The panel noted that the court in *Hudesman* held the SOR legislatively "restricts

-

⁴⁷ Id.

⁴⁸ Yakima Fruit & Cold Storage Co. v. Cent. Heating & Plumbing Co., 81 Wn.2d 528, 530–31, 503 P.2d 108 (1972).

application of the discovery rule" exception, whereby a plaintiff may bring a cause of action outside the time period allowed by the statute of limitations due to latent defects.⁴⁹ In so doing, the statute "sets the outer limit for discovery" of contractor conduct giving rise to a claim.⁵⁰ The court in *Rodriguez* confirmed this point:

The creation of limitation periods is primarily a legislative function, and the legislature has the constitutional power to enact a clear line of demarcation to fix a precise time beyond which no remedy will be available. . . . [RCW 4.16.310] has a broad scope barring [a]ll causes of action that do not accrue within 6 years after substantial completion or termination of any of the specified services, whether the damage was or could have been discovered within that period. This court cannot constitutionally ignore such a clear mandate from the legislature. ⁵¹

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